James W. Miller

James W. Miller arrived at William and Mary in 1935 and
quickly became head of the department of philosophy and psy-
chology (1936). Although he preferred teaching to adminis-
trative work, he served as dean of the faculty from 1938 to
1946 and again briefly in 1952. 1In 1951 he was acting presi-
dent following the resignation of John Pomfret. He continued
as professor of philosophy until his resignation in August
1955 but returned to Williamsburg upon his retirement from
McGill University. The events of those years on the faculty
he describes in these interviews; included is the longer ver-

sion of his 1955 letter of resignation.

Dr. Miller read and approved the transcript.
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James v/, Miler
Bean—JimMilter
Jarx\uacﬁ &y, 7S
Deant/Miller: I came to William and Mary in 1935 and stayed until 1955. 1In
Lwenty
thoseqﬁﬁjiiars I served under three presidents. One of them I consider
a very great presidenﬁg Mr. Bryan}a Pne of them a very good presidentéj
Mr. Pomfret;‘yﬁhd there is no doubt that the third was Alvin Duke
Chandler. %ou asked me the other day to say something about how I
came to William and Mary4and let me start with that.
ﬂdl About commencement time in 19354Dr. Geigerjwho was the chairman of

the department of philosophy and psychologyydied very suddquiy in an
accident. Mr. Bryan proceeded, of course, to look for a replacement.
Having very close contacts with Harvard(gf which he was a member of the
Board of Overseeré)and knowing the particular prestige of the philosophy
department there, he sought the advice of grofessor Ralph Barton P;try
at Harvard, Professor ﬁ?&ry suggested to ;im that I might be interested.
I was then instructor and tutor of philosophy at Harvard. Professor
P;%ry got in touch with me?and I thought I might be interested. So I
suggested to Professor Rézry that he let Mr. Bryan know that I might
be interested. Mr. Bryan got in touch with mwe and invited me to come
down for an interview. I came down from northern Michiganjwhere I was
spending the summer{and had a good two days, mainly with Mr. Bryan.
I think it is strikinéfandﬁcharacteristic that he spené?gf% -Pmuch of
his time on making appointments® I was very much attracted to the colleges-
as he presented it and as I saw itzﬁand to him and to Williémsburéband

) R —bo "ﬁ&{/\é‘— - . .
decided to accept. Then Mr. Bryan engagedV@jVLambertqwhe~§ook%me around to {ad ¢



hause to live inf‘ And ‘Cy"in typical fashion had a list of the houses that

were available. There were three and we went to see all of them. One

)

of them was too bigland one was too little;and one was just right for
(on Richmend Roady
my family§so I took it and lived thereafor five year%@on»RiehmondﬂRnaﬂxwgg
&
It may be of historical interest that that seven-room house-;yery nice

$438

house--rented forqﬁertyaéiué@dol&aréfé month. And at the end of the

first year our landlord?who was perhaps the best landlord anybody ever

Qame o me ond ' }w\@ar' Sp s
hadgqsaid that there was no,reason why I should hawewtﬂgbay that much;\

and?so he reduced the rent to $42.75. So we stayed there until we built
our house in Indian Springi//?géll, I came-baeﬁ?to the college in
Septembery '35 and found that I had a lot of very attractive students.

I had two big classes and two or three smaller classes. 1 was chairman

of the department of philosophy and psycholongas it then was. I

taught all of the philosophy?and Dick Hgnneééan did all of the psychology;“

except for the fact thatMCwaamber taught one course in psychology.
Phlosephy Bad
It remained that kind of department,mpsychologi)andf?hi&osophygfor

several years until it was finally separated into its two branches.

‘‘‘‘‘‘‘

o
ﬁéf But in those early years,4 I foundjbesides delightful classesj\all of

which, by the way, were held in Washington Hallj‘a great many friendships =
very {avely
Cﬁy wife and T dié)among members of the faculty;hnd we had a,social

, &
tine in~alfgthose early yvears before the war. Now th#whole quality of

life here, both academically and sociallygwas inspired and dominated by
think
Mr. Bryan. I4theughegthat Mr. Brgan did for the college very much

Kennedy did

the kind of thing that Jack4se§éﬁﬁﬁﬁ?iﬁffor the U.S. governmenp;'
,/ :



) rather
JFhough Kennedy wasqre&ativeéy§§6ung and Mr. Bryan was relatively old;\

they were the same kind of men and did the same kind# of things.
Mr, Bryan surrounded himself with the best and brightest he could find?

as Kennedy did?and he inspired the whéle attitude of people, He gave

us an atmosphere in which everybody thoughzrﬁilliam and Mary was on the

gt last

march, on the gg? thatﬂit was really going somewhere and going somewhere

" good. There was great enthusiasm all the time as a resultgv%gr.

" Bryan's previous career might be mentioned?though this is’a matter of
pub;géc history. He came of a very distinguished a:gistééératic Virginia
family)aaé~wae%the son of the great Joseph Bryan. He studied at
Episcopal Qigh»%chool and the University of Virginia?where he acquired
so much Latin and Greék that when he came to William and Mary he knew
more Latin and Greek than anybody else outside of the classics de-
partment. Then he studied law at Harvard and took his law degree

teo practheg
there and then proceeded4law in Richmond, though very briefly. Then
he moved into the newspaper business following his father. And when
he became president of William and Mary he was the principle owner and
publisher of the Richmond ﬁgﬂﬁé&ﬁﬁé&; and later on acquired the Times -
Dispatch. is policy at William and Mary was to do the best that he
could do to make William andAMary a top~flight liberal arts college. The
¢bllege as he inherited it from his predecessor, Dr. Chandler, was a
great college, but not of the top cali%er. It had two principié
shortcomings{I would sayi; ghe was that the faculty, though goodfwas

not as good as it should have been. There were a great many people don

the faculty who were mediocréties who/gggzzzkgfzgﬁ)have been appointed

,\g .

in the fiwst placefexcept that Dr. Chandler in the daygbf financial

stréngency did the best he oould , made what might be called cheap
I ‘f;l’lk:\(

appointments now and then.,\lt is remarkable that Dr. Chandler was able



to get as many really first-rate people as he did. There were suche -
fhere were many subh., For example, I would mention Guy and Robb in
chemlstry,lYoung in phy31cs Dav1s in blology,’Taylor in polltlcal
economyfASteté/%n mathematlcsleorton hlstory, Woodbrldge) law }
Waqéer clas31cs? Jackson, Engllshgkﬁunt theater®;Swemﬂ%the llbrarians
and one very young man named" Cy Lambert These were very fine~peop1e5 -
some of them weee more solid than they were brlllaéé /ﬁne of them was
definitely more brilliant than he was solid. yikwéén the whole it was a
good groupg ﬁut they wewe perhaps only a third of“the faculty?who we
shall say.... And in the second placef’the second shortcoming§ William
and Mary in comparison with other liberal arts colleges stressed
undu@ly vocational sub]ects, especially teacher training. It was almoé:t
Tatleast T
the tail that trledqto wag the dog. It was almost true that William
and Mary was a normal schoolcjg teacher training establishment rather
endae G
than aﬁcollege—‘almost I said),not quite, There was fa%ﬁore vocational
work than what one would expect to find in a real liberal arts college.
There were sevegal other vocational departments)such as homejZConomics)
which wouldn't have bemn here at all except for their tie-in with the
teacher training program. And secretarial science;if you pleasejcalled

thaé%;eaning typewriting andﬂshorthandawith the name science added to
make it sound respectable./ Well, I think it was Mr. Bryan's principgzé)
double problem to deal with those two shortcomingg;nd this he proceeded
to doTbut not in the mamnmner that some others might have done. The
obvious thing would have been to fire half the faculty and kick all the
othér stuff out, But he didn't do anything of the kind at all. I

‘doubt if he ever fired anybody or abolished anything. He was too much

of a diplomaqggd one might even say a politicia%)to do it that way — —



and too kind a man. So what he did really was to seize every opportunity
to make nmew appointments and to make them the best the—bestfthat he
could make Ehemgand gradually to diminish the emphasis upon the
vocational subjects. -Neﬁgghe best example I can think of which shows
was :
very well how he proceeded gy the way he delt with the fine arts
department. Neﬁfghe fine arts department had been before he came)ﬁa
small and relatively unimportant department which existed almost
entirely # to help train young people to become teachers of fine arts
the
inﬂpublic schools. All very well. The way he handled that was to
"%
surround that old qéycleus with quality. He got Leslie Cheek{“#hat
was his first appointment there. And Leslie, of course;‘was tremendously
Lan]
dynamic anqqimaginatively exciting person. You know{since then he has
become the director of the Baltimore Museum and then the ﬁlrector of the R ahmena
A Lvigginig NVuseum of Fine ditad.
ﬂhﬁ&kﬁﬁﬁwﬁfuseumq If you go there today what you see will be pretty
much what Leslie did. I don't mean he painted the plctures“but the
tthe
arrangement and whe%wwegcall;nq phllOSOphy of the museum is his bequest
Leslie was appointed at the same time I was(in '35kand by the followiqﬁg
e Was &

year, twelve months later’\the new professor of painting and4thé?new
professor of sculpture that had been added. And so you had Leslie, an
architect?and the painter“and the sculptoriied Rust}aaéazt was a real

Th@' aove "
department of fine arts.A $hen»@here—was4%tudio work and a very cogpetent
history of art. So a department had been made from practically nothing
in twelve months without firing anybody and without overtly diminishing
vocational Work;but simply putting it into the shade.

+he
Emily: Was there any opposition fromjvocational people?

Miller: Not that I know of, no. Well, there really couldn't have been there [ in-Ppe ap

LR G

because that department wasn't of any?sufficient importance to stir up



he bad od
any t—eos—t-rf»u@? trouble. If,}-y«euﬁdirectly attack,\ the department of education,. w
oF - he had hrews it
that was a crowd of Teacher's College) ‘Columbia)peopleq if youqexgmdmgg
So e

in three or four professors froﬁQtotally different type#f of educational
department, there would hgve been trouble, no doubt, é4,3_5:11t he had no
interest in doing that}/g%éll, when I had been at theéﬁollege for three
years /Mr. Bryan asked me to become dean. In a sense this was an attackﬁé
on the department of education because the former dean was Deaﬁﬁe&kﬂg HﬁbK&}
who was the head of the department of education. He wasn't fired in aﬁ:Ny
sense, His deanship was taken away from himfbut he continued as

)
ﬁ/brofessor of education and had the department and kept the title of dean

\/
\
N

“the
ei—deanjzs dean of%summer school. When Mr, Bryan fiwst asked me to

N
become dean, my first reply was, oh no, Mr. Bryan. I'm not an administrator.

LR

I'm a professor of philosophx§1 shouldn't be giving up my-kiﬁd?g% worlk
Kind of Wy

for this%thing.“/But I said I would think about it. I thought about

it for a week, I decided to do it?with the thought that every academic
ought te-hav& at some time or other to have amfadministrative experience
ff he gets the chance. And the prospect of working with Mr. Bryan

very , 7
waspattractive and exciting. +#ad(I had no intention of doing this for
more than two or three years. Weiéég;hus I got into a trap’because I
stayed there for eight years. The war came and all that sort of thing.

It seemed the best thing to do for quite a long while. As dean I made

the discovery that I suppose every dean and every president makes:



you go into this sort of thing full of plansj‘ideasfand things you are

going to accomollsh“and then you discover you have practically no time
~- unexpactad preblems- -
to do any of them, Uaexpected Problems come ugfhat take most of your

} 3
1QMe o
time. I suppose nobody ever gets done all that heqwants%to do. I'm

ot
sure I didn't) Nowqthe things I did dq,%the one I remember with
greatest approval is the preparing and instituting of a sort of

constitution for the faculty, thejﬁbews, I think we called them. Mr.

“Bryan and I worked together on this and worked out a document which we

L

‘presented to the faculty and which the faculty approved and accepted.
The whole purpose of this was to give the faculty much more power than
it had had before;‘especially in academic matters.  Under Dr. Chandler
L owesa'd them) °
it had had very 1itt1e)I understand,\so I'm told. Dr. Chandler ran the
’ﬁ%llege and the professors stuck to classes;and that was the division
of labor. The two main points in théjzgnstitution which endeavored
andtto make a real differenCeGﬂmme-aﬂd~éeumakewaer&%“&iﬁ%e@ence%ﬁn this
regard were first, it was specified that the faculty should have regular
meetings. I think it was once a month that there was to be a faculty
meeting, oh, the second Tuesday‘after the third Wednesday or what have

--vegulotly doted meet qg .
yous -Andithe second place was ~that several committees which hitherto

had been appointed by the #re31dent were to be elected by the faculty,

+he
particularlyﬂand?most important, the curriculum committee. That had

never been elected #n fact, nothing had been elected. Since that

Y

was the major committee of academic policy it wads really significanﬁ?
St

e -
I think?to have it elected. The committee 4n honorary degrees was—akso~2



e .
was also to be elected, That was more a toggn sort of thlngg\but

the curriculum committee was really important.

the
Emily: Was this giving some power to A faculty at Mr. Bryan's instigation?

)
t,ht:?&‘
or wasg 4tisomething that you took to him as an idea? )
and saw eye-to-eige on ikl
Miller: I'm not really sure. I knew we worked together on i:h:‘Ls,z I

®ingt
think, amd? I'm not positive, I think he,' suggested that I prepare the

‘ﬁ:hc*vu@'* R
constitution. And I thlnk,,lI m not sure, that when I prepared_,tone«%ﬂand

took it to him he toned it down a little bit, not much. What it was

legally was his concession of power to the faculty. Now I think maybe
d'm st positive bt o
that was something permanent.,\ I think they still have this 4nst1tut10n.

It has probably been amended and modified in many ways over the years
o ~the
like most constltutlons Aliich is allﬁw-ﬂ-%m&"@good That I thlnk was

the start of real faculty participation in college pollcy/¢ The one

thing that Mr. Bryan did that I regret took place in 1939. He decided -

ity colleaiate
to increase the emphasis uponqathletlcs, particularly football. Now

:

H'm sure he did so to a great extent under pressure from alumna? and
the 1:‘Lke ;B'ut I don't think he did it unwillingly.._.lftell I'm sure.
Probably nobody knows just how it came about"but the whole atmosphere) a whel e

Q&\VF\:?& e C@'(\"' \h‘? UQ‘:‘ B g
ergevsgcwere at work. I know Charlie Duke was. chery

Cw c,;p" gﬂw V'ﬁw ‘ehﬁ bVY\ @f Qha"th& : % %a .
keen for it. 1 He-was—any assistant to the president and had
h\&‘ﬁ;e)t\sé’

§ considerable influence on Mr., Bryan on various 4-things;g Now Charlie,
since I hadn't planned to mention him elsewhere{was a first-class

& Vet Ve
persorl‘ﬁle had his limitations but he had great abilities and,great powers. -
3.

4
He.wasra very hard worker for the college. Well, whatever may have
been the influences at work, I think Mr. Bryan was perfectly willing

and became enthusiastic. When he had to do something he became yery—7

enthusiastic about it.



d

Aad%%uite possibly his background hag a good deal to do with iEE;f? Ao
places like the University of Virginia and Harvard the college

s end slwa
spirit,has been cenﬁered around a football team. Here was William
and Mary with a miserable little teamfand Mr. Bryan decided to have a
good one. He did this, I thinkswith no realization(égd who else
would have realized pe@hapé%at that tim%>of the potential evils of
the’%lg intercollegiate athletics. ‘Andgthose evils, as far as I know,

be'

never,came apparent in his administration. They became apparent much

laterpafter the war when there hadn't been athletics too much or anything.
Cin 1730>

In his admlnlstrationqhe brought in Carl Voyle%:fﬁ—%939““ Carl wasAterrlflc/\

p

three end
top-flight coach. Carl brought 1n4very good assistaneﬁex)gefore long
o
William and Mary had a powerful and successful football team. So— %

,that brings me on to l940”and I might say here that the regretable
‘t}\é’t‘z é»&!ilC‘\j wes
thing that happened(&hough it was no fault of Mr. Bryan' s4name%y the
~the,
scandal at4Norfoik,§Nbrfolk #1v151on. I'm almost certain it was 1940 o =

* oould
,hatqean~be Vﬁrlfled If it wasn't '40 it was ‘41,

Emily: It was '4lg I was looking at the hewspaper todaygand it was '41.

Miller: It was? Oh, good. I guess it was probably in 'AQﬁﬁhaiﬁga
#

little before the scandalfthat Mr. Bryan asked me to go down occasionally
to the Norfolk #ivision and get acquainted and cultivate good relations

with them. He said we had been neglecting them too long in our
whlsh
exclusive concernﬂfﬂtfkhings in Williamsburg. So I went down to the

Norfolk/ﬂivision two or three times and got acquainted with the people

the

andqfaculty. It was perhaps on my third or fourth visit when two or
Y
three of them took me iwside after a formal meeting or something we had
na p\&( 4
had and they told me that pecu%ar things were going on, ymainlysthe dean

#darf of the Norfolk/ﬁivision, Dr. Hodges{nBilly Hodge%?had been falsiﬁﬁng



10

transcripts sent out by the ﬁivision. Well, I was staggered at that
idea. I said, "Well, I'll talk to Mr. Bryan about that." So I went
and told him{and he was very much concerned. He said, '"Well, we'll
have to go down there and see what this is all about." So one day

Mr. Bryanﬂan&~£w~tak&ng&alongfthe registrar, Miss Kathleen Alsop, snd L
v%?went down and went right in to talk to Dr. Hodges. I suppose we
phoned up in advance that we were coming. Well, Mr. Bryan told Dr.
Hodges what he understood was going on&#nd Dr. Hodges admitted it right
away. He said he'd done it in three cases. There were three boys = ~
“who . well ‘one of them wanted to go to West Point or something like

that and had an appointment, éut to be admitted he had have a

course in physics. The boy hadn't had the course. So Dr. Hodges

fixed up the transcrlpééor him which included a course in physics.
Well, that was the kind of thing it was. There were certifications

to other colleges and universities that a certain person hadﬁé%course
that he had not had or that he got a grade better than he'd got.

Now poor old Billy did this out of good nature. He wasn'é:%tgbed to

do it or getting any personal benefit. He was sorry for these kids

who wanted to get in somewhere andlcggldn'pfand he fixed them up with
credentials that they didn't have)quééés?for their sake, supposedl%é not

stopping to think what that did to the credit of his institution or

the collegiate system generally. Well, Mr. Bryan was much taken%back.

4

He saidfand I think I am quotlng him correctlyPAre these the only cases?"
vy Meanwhlle Y
Hodges saldﬂzes qu Bryan had meanwhrie»sent Miss Alsopqto the

atthe Pleg
registrar's office there to lookqaﬁﬁgat that point Miss Alsop came out
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twenrty
oufwith about ~Zﬁ’ff:more of these cases.
A

Emily: , That she had found readily in the records?
@SJ‘
Miller: 4¥e~a}r§ I'm not sure that all of them were quite as flagrant as

the ones that Hodges had admitted to, I don't know. But anyhow,

;\

there were tamperings in his handwriting in the original recorgs.
So then as soon as Miss Alsop had produced all this?séu-f»f% Mr. Bryan

said, "Dr. Hodges, I think I shall have to ask for your resignation?"

y [ )
Which of course, is am emphatic way of saying}”/zou're out.\/And he
B ] o=

was. There was enough sent%ment in Norfolk in favor of Billy Hodges 23 @ QEQFSS&V\
that there was a great deal of publicity about this. He was a very

veiry é \
popular man and a,‘nice chap, no doubt about it. / But ,én view of public

discovery of what had happened, there was inevitablgz publicity~-alots
Ao

l@gfof it-~whereupon the college got in4 trouble with one of the
(4

leading educational associations some months later. The A.A.U.

@ssociation of American Universities\) started to investigate us.
organ a8t on ~ }
Mo that was a very important,\assee-isatﬂion;ﬁ%f graduate schools ia® @mid
- was ‘
universities. It ¥#§ not like the Southern Association of Colleges &nda

O
q'd‘f Secondary schoolsgxwhi.ch is our accrediting agencyb Fhis was
something else. Well, that association appointed a committee to

look into things at William and Mary. I remember two of themj{and there

o
may have only been two—-;fnay‘be there were three--two very nice men,

one of the older men a very distinguished scholar, a leading mathematician

/ ab
,Efean of the ggaduate school,e\f Brown. He and #4his little committee

J

came down and spent a lot of time looking at everything and talking
to everybody and so on and so on. They went home again and deliberated

and finally decided to take disciplinary action against theﬁollege.
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e
Now I'm not sure just what it was teﬁhnlcally--sort of being put on
Y ﬂé;j
probation. It didn't prevent us from d01nnghat we wanted to do. As

far as I recall, for example, there was nothing to prevent us from
going on teaching graduate courses and giving graduate degrees,

&%
though this was an association of graduate schools. Bufygt was more
& g ™ e
I would think in the nature of a Aenjure than anything genqﬁlly

destructive or effective. Poor old Dean Richardson I know felt terribly
He told me
about having to do this.(\ge hadn't slept all night and all this;tha;;

L .-
and the other. So we were in the;bad graces or whatever they wereﬁbfp_.
4 e

bad\igﬁgixutie&~fur~e;%hi&e. I always felt that the decision wa QNN‘EkQAP
eugg%att was not only unjust but stupid. If Mr. Bryan had done the

soft thing and coverdd up for Billy, then there wouldn't have been any

then
trouble ﬂmﬁawe would have escaped. But he was penalized for having
,q? been honest and strong.
that he

Emily: He did stateddldn t want it tried #@n the newspaper%but was this
more out of consideration for Hodges?
Miller: T don't remember about that. I think it was also paradoxical
having dismesed
that the commltteephough they approved of Mr. Bryan' 84d&smLssmaiwgw
Hodges?cr1t1c1zed us for having neglected to supervise the ﬁlVlSlon
Wy b
properly. ,gﬁ%af?was the attempt to supervise properly that had
/t\
?
discovered the error! So I think théldecision was rather unsound.
Emily: During this time wasn't there some talk also of separating the
Norfolk ?ivision?
Miller: I don't know. There has been that kind of talk many times.
I don't remember then, particularly.
Emily: Déd Dr. Hodges hold to his position the entire time-éém%?that he

had not really done anything wrong)but had merely advanced credits to

people? 1In other words, did he ever admit that he had done anything

wrong?
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Miller: Oh, I don't know if there was ever occasion for him to admit it

or not to admit it. He admitted what he had done /§nd Mr. Bryan
whoit he; of covige;
called upon him to resign 34 And-h& did. Well, that's a sort of question

like discussing whether Mr. Nixon has admitted doing anything wrong.

No, I can't answer that. I don't know about that. I know that Billy
dopy e
himself didn'§4resist resigning. He may have stirred up some of the

talk in Norfolk to get them to come to his defense.

X

Emily: Apparently there was a great deal of uproar in Norfolk,
Miller: Oh yes. Well, that is perhaps a sour way of ending the account of
the Bryan administration) /éo let me add generally in conclusion that

he was a very creative president. There was constant development in
UT R

the right direction.jk his presidency. It was an exciting time to be

here. He did everything with style. That was one thing that the
 had been
/ﬂgllege really hadn't had before, It{WE@»a little on the dull s1de)
,éut Mr. Bryan brought his style to 1t?and that gffected the whole
e He Mx . DS Qe

' campus. ?ut style in his personal appearance and behav1or1 the aristocratic

"'~~.v

. Virginian in the best sense of the word,4style in his writing, style

“in his speaking, style in his entertalnlng and social relations. I
hl"’ enw}u@wﬁi,&,ul‘{ ‘1/2
might say a word about%Ehemé’ He gave any number of dellghtful@artles

for members of the faculty, both here in the President's House and at

&ngLaburnum, his house in RlchmondA for distinguished visitors, of

!c Shgnbul
course, ,great parties. One of the most noteworthy and memorable was

e

the one in which he entertained iﬁ»the~ereat~ﬂalléihe Harvard Board of
inthe Great Halle) 70 v
Overseers,of which he was a member,q The first time they had ever had
“the home
a meeting so far away fromqbasef
Conant
Pre31dentqeﬁendfbf Harvard said to Mr. Bryan afterwards something like

board
B,T“\éff this, "Mr. Bryan, you are ruining my boys.' He said, '"When they get

%

The best writhkey, o Omupﬁ of {dis = «no_xéen“&: “Arvals o8 the Colloe o st
Wilism aod M&P‘ o Hepie «»,/ W@ .,,,W'vw s w('*e,:.;,m-.» (f:"""{@ P FHEo \,) FARTR
" 56'\'0’“ L&Dy oy Swiem hibiar d e

- e
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back home they'll expect to have southern hospitality.'" For the students,

perhaps the greatest social occasion was the June ball{which took

- ai Sith Magnetias @t
place every year in the §unken garden outdoor ballﬂ magiuntas“:
+he whole

honeysuckle, Lengﬁ Cheek des1gned-htézewn%amblanc%gan63the girls

.:_«t

were all dressed in lovely dresseg?and many of the boys were in black

4
tie--at least many of the faculty were. And who paid for that, you
was
know? It was terribly expensive. I think itﬁalmost certain that Mr,
o
Yo
Bryan paldﬁout of his own pocket.
do you thin
Emily: Was this generally known,ﬁdboyyuuthﬁﬁhﬁ people knew this? -
o, Yoo Jwat weit to
Miller: ,TNobo&y;~sometthg ~about- a*party--you don't ask where the money

came from; 4o you T
pJ ~d
s thete

Emily: TIn connection with yoqﬂbecomlng dean, "Fwonder—if- therﬁﬁzﬁ some

tie between the easing out of Dean Hoke and as I'll put it the
P I
defemphasifs on the school of/ﬁducation?

Miller: Yes, though that's only part of something more general.

'] It was rather Mr. Bryan's desire to have a dean who was a liberal arts man
rather than one who was not.
reolde &

Emily: Were you activelyﬁinﬁu?faculty hiring during this period?

Miller: Oh, yes. Yes, I should have mentioned that. A great deal of my
work as dean was of that kindf{done in cooperation and collaboration
with department chairmen and then with the president. I Was the
intermediary between the department chairman and the president.
Later, during the war I did a good deal of the hiring directly when

there was no department chairman{so to speak. When the faculty was so

de¢imated by participation in the war, I did much of the faculty hiring.
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Emily: Before the war, let's say, what would have been the attraction

in

for a young professorqcoming to William and Mary? And conversely,

the
what would have beeq««&u*youmthinkMwouldwtherewhavewbeenmanﬁ?dis-

—

advantagesq for example, salary?
ants
Miller: Theqé%traction was the quality of the place and the fact that
nearly everybody who came was getting at least a slightly better job

than he was leaving. I think that's the thing that really works in
fer a Tooutby pergon
the academic world. The greatest disaﬂvantagqﬂin being here

&aiﬂfbeingwheﬁe?formamﬁa@uatympevsonéﬁas the teaching load was much too
g &

"heavy;so that there was very little opportunity for most people to

go on with their researcb%s@? They were too busy teaching their
classes, The teaching load when I first came here was fifteem hours
of classes. I remember once at McGill when one of my colleagues

Vs b
went to the principal and said, "How do you expectwe—casphire anybody

who's any good with our teaching load of six hours?" Well, here's# we hac

fifteen.

Emily: After Dr. Hodges was relieved at NorfolkjMr. Bryan sent Charlie

Duke down there as directog\is this accurate? Did he go down there a@r

did he remain here and just....

Miller: He went there as director. Now I'm not sure how soon after thatfwagéj

there may have been some kind of interval--there must have been some

ot

kind of interval,.-I don't know how longn, I think I'm right in saying
that when Charlie was director there he was also still bursar up here;\
and he really did both jobs.
Emily: There was apparently some criticism of Dr. Bryan for making Duke
SO BLg e

directorﬂsa%he was a business man and héwasn't an academic mans)

why do you think he chose him to oversee the Norfolkvﬁivision?
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Miller: Wellgybf course there was a dean under Charlie to look after the

educat10q151de. But Mr. Bryan had an extraordinary confidence and
respect fofzgiﬁéfy Charlie was sort of Mr. Bryan's trouble shooter.
This was a real troublqm§hooting job down there. He was also, ..
Charlie was from there originally or from tﬁgeregion, wasn't he?
Emily: I think he was from Portségih or Suffolk or somewhere around there.
Miller: Yes. Portségih. He was somewhat of a native, if not from Norfolk;“
at least from that region. I think that had something to do with it.
But mainly I would say:;as because he was Mr. Bryé‘s troublgv§hooter.
And it was made perfectly respectable academically by having an
Binegt

academic dean under himi . I think it wanggnes?Grgy originally and

later L@«ls Webb.

Emily: This censure that was slapped on the college, did Mr. Bryan realize
that this was serious?

Miller: Oh, yes. I think he perhaps took it more seriously than anybody
else. It was an insult to him.

Emily: 1I've never really understood why it was that he resigned.
Do you thlngffhls was something that had troubled hlm)contrlbutlng to

o ey

his decisioqﬁei?resigning@% ¢

Miller: No, I don't think so. Let me get these dates before me. He

would have been about476“years old then. Mr. Bryan was born 1“;471
ey = @ur‘«‘:mﬁ o (R
now and,ﬁ42 he would have been47}&years old«and he died in just two

years later. I think he wasn't well. I think he felt the end coming
Emily: That it was best for the college for him to retire?
Miller: Wellﬁwaﬁybodyj%an old man who is sick is going to retire whether
it's best for the‘college or not,”nﬁnless he's on the Supreme Court, ard

- then he'd better hang on.

[i?mily: True. I don't believe I had any mowe questions that you didn't
et -

answer during the course of your narrative. g
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There is an incident about Mr. Bryan's poems thatdhé%aoesn't really care to

have put on tape.
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Miller: I think I was discussing the reasons for Mr. Bryan's resignation

i
at the end of our last talk. I think the pr1nc1pkq reasons were
B\ eathid s o e

simply his age and his state of health. He wasd%ﬁgyears old«and

though none of us knew that he was 111 he did die within two years. so
hose bean aﬂmvi; MQWMSQﬂ,ﬁ&Uw
presumably that is the explanation. It may well, b ;& :
We s "
é)ﬁefsurprlsed if 1t\sqthe casg)that he was displeased in those later years

N of his administration with the support that he was getting from the

XL ot Vig .{w”“w
Boardﬁ That may have had something to do with it. Perhaps he wouldn't
”.é4

" have been able to tell us why he resigned. People don't always have
conscious reasons for what they do?but looking at it from our viewpoint,

obviously his age, his evident declining health{and perhaps lack of

sufficient cooperation from the;éoardﬁall these account for it.
e 8o far as I know, Mr. Bryan had nothing to do with the appointment of

his successor. I think Mr. Bryan would have thought it improper to
Pe.ua %‘l? |53 tm ,,m\
try to have a hand in the choice of the nextwpe%sanfu }ut I do know

that he was very much pleased with the choice thafwas made. He was

-.é(

dellghtedﬂtOMbﬁﬁthe appointment of Dr. Pomfret. I think myself that

it's amazing that the‘ggard made that good~o£gén appointment., At

Presidan,
least it dld“anqur@~Pomfret came into office shortly thereafter.

L
g

"‘for nine years& 1942 to 195%§his prior experience certainly

o
|

qualified him very well for that kind of appointmennff ﬁe had an

e
Qv
excellent educationqﬁroq?the University of Pennsylvania)where he got
ot
his doctor?s degree. He had been at Princeton and then later at

Whete
Vanderbllt«beSLdes being ths professor of history he was the dean of

the so—callediéenlor Gollege and Dean of the graduate school.
I think that he made a very good pre31denskhough he disliked, I think,

devslued
the nonacademic details thatﬂﬁelifupon him. I remember his saying once
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that it had never occurred to him before he became president that

ouetrse e
he would have toﬁexerc1sewoversightwoveggthe dining hall., His notion

of the presidency was derived from universities where a president
A
delﬁgates all that sort of thing?but in a small college, or in a

relatively small onegthe president is quite actively responsible for
everythlngﬁas Mr. Pomfret discovered to his dlsmay ‘i think that
had ol B
heqmade%two pr1nc1p£g accompllshments in his pre51dency N?ﬁoubt
had it nebrbeen
he would have made morgquwneg?for the war. During th€§%ar it's

rarely pos51ble for a college to progress) The best it can hope is to
I i
survive, And so if one finds less progress made in those years than
= \l ‘e\CJUe{:u
one would like to see, at least one can be grea@fuﬁmﬁﬂr“themfﬁﬁggthat

ot
the college didn't p@rish. I think his two principz? constructive

be

(&
accomplishments wergflrst)that he had preserved the qualitative pro-

gress that Mr. Bryan had made. He was essentially, in my view, a

(\.
preservgﬁ of value. Then there was the special accomplishment that

q? everybody knows about. He contributed greatly to the study of

American colonial history. He built up the department of history in .
5w N Lot E&h Amet onn

that reg&en%and also more spectacularly, he created the 1nst1tutqut€h*?

Higtery, ang Gulbire ) with
e ;\the collaboration of Colonial Williamsburg. TIn a sense? the making of
Woilem and [
the«V&rgmn1a§Quarter1y into a magazine of national scholarly importance

T
andqgenerally the construction of the institute, these are perhaps the
A /
marks of his own that he left principly upon the college. ‘'The war had
started even before he had become president. Pearl Harbor was in

December of 19417and Mr. Pomfret came in a few months later. So he

7,
inherited the college *%ﬁﬂrﬁﬁgfin the Wagffime situation.
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. ¢ ame
??L The impact of the war upon the college was great and happened from the«wsqﬂ

beginning. Any number of faculty left to join thelﬁfmed orce?é7/§ome
became,Army officers and some y%vy officers. This certainly decimated
the faculty. I'm not sure what proportion one could say left. It
could be figured out very easily with a computer or even with the
knowledge of arithmeticpbut I would guess offhand that tt-wasfsomething
like twenty-five percent of the facu}ty went to war,%:BuffJust about

everybody except the female membersqmmﬁ(?’guess some of them got involved

in the waves and what not>-~f@st about everybody except those who were

53§

¥

q
7
i

o~ o 5
iﬁglderm;;afw ho stood 1nAeanger of being drafted. Even some who would

not have been drafted volunteeredj&t is true. So the faculty was very
much reduced in size;j The student body even mor?squ Practically all the
male students were ef’draft age and were drafted very shortly. Then

of course the youzgger men who would have been admitted to the college

didn't come in because of their impending military service. So we

naa@@*bwﬂiaéh&g%mviﬁ

were a heavily female student body. I'm express1ng1@sw»e@meth4n%wwwﬂ “““

I'm just saying that the student body was much smallerawhlch caused

rave
qgaeag;flnanC1al strqngenc1es for the college. After alljthese young
Aand weraen "ty

people would have been paying tuitiong And so the ?ollege introduced

two military units which greatly helped with the financial situatioqﬁané—%:

,jr,,
this was a contribution pxes&mab%x?to the war effor?bn the part of the

college. We hag a ﬁavy unit and then anﬂKrmy unit. The ﬂavy unit was

the Navy Chaplain's schootj It really had very little to do with the

whst i was "t
college as an academic 1nstltutlo%gbufyltqrea11yﬂoccupy space, We

..'(

o R

rente?/pace to the Nevy--lihat s what it came to--Space that might have

otherwise been empty.fvyery good business. Se—thef¢hapiain*s~sehoﬁ§?
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Ci; Sﬂgghe ﬁhaplaiﬁ?school had a whole floor of offices<;£ at least they

i

occupied a whole floor either for offices or classrooms)and I think
)

they had some classrooms elsewhere. We housed them in the dormitorie§;?
‘We fed them in the dining hall. I(ﬁggzgfally}nothing to do with them.
I just knew of their existence. By an ext®aordinary stroke of good

luck and intelligent appointment on the part of theé&avyythey appointed

N T»

'Cy Lambert to the‘ﬂgval staff of the ﬁhaplaiﬁgschool. He already had his
commission{and this was his assignment. He was the best person in the
world, of course, for this. He can tell you in any amount of detail that
Mey o
ACaD be wanted(i'm suré)about that school, can perhaps correct mistakes
that I may have mad%%hough I think I have been sufficiently general to
avoid error. Now the other unit was the Army Specialized Training

(ASTR ) w
Program4ASDBﬁﬁ This was very closely integrated gith the collgge

because as part of their training the boys in that program took academic

courses just as in the ROTCfand our faculty taught them in all these courses.

o .
The/ﬁrmy staff taught them militaryhctivities and gave them their

military training) Fﬁt they had their lliberal arts training with us.
It was quiteqheavy curriculum, In our courses and under our teachers

they took physics and?%hemistry, history, English, mathematics, and

)
engineering. drawing. ~Sé?ggr classrooms were filled by hundreds of these
boyé%-I don't know just h;w many. In general they took their courses
with our students. T mean a typical course of freshman Englishé& take
i%)would have been fifteen of our girls and fifteen of these boys.
Wartime had its pleasant sidevég%he staff of this organization consisted
of I think\about five officer;, something Q$ that order. The two who

are most memorable{frather the two that I remember with the most interest}

were the commanding officerqMajor McGinnfand the man who was I think the
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junior member of the staff, certainly one of them, Dick Brooks?whom you
ex had been
know, Major McGinn was an,q—national guardsman~andgﬁho4we§%inducted into
=Y
the/irmy for the war. Major McGinn, the commanding officer?waSAtough,
, : .

rough, bqqstrous, vulgar, jolly, outgoing, very likﬁble man. I liked
him;anyhow(ﬁwith perhaps a taste for uncouthness)and he and I never had

?
the slightest trouble: We got on famously} jﬁartly no doubt because he
never tried to interfere with the ﬁollegzﬁn any way. He simply turned
over to us th%the academic work and told us what the curriculum was
and how many students there Were?and that was all. And if he felt any
need of liaison,with the academic side of the college and his people,

Dick Brooks was the one appointed to take care of that{and there was

)
neverjnever the slightest interference from the/Army in this program.
@9 Now I had a certain amount to do with making new appointments on - ¢
account of this program. The program called for a larger number of

students to take physics, for example, than we had had in previous years.

“as 1

It called for work in engineering drawing?which we didn't have)

recall. In any event, I found it necessary to findi:aditional teacher
in physics and a teacher in engineering drawing. Wenghow I got that man
:1 in physics, I don't remember. I guess he just turned up somehow) %@t anyhow
he was much needed. 1In those days physicists were scarce national?iago
I was happy to have a physicistd to add to the setleven though he wasn't ot the
caliber to be a full professor. Buéfby an odd coincidence he happened
to be the son of Sigmund Freud. He w;s named Oliver Frewdj'and he was

a gentle, meek, mild, inoffensive man,something I wouldn't have expected
al ) p

the son of Sigmund Freud to be. But he had a flamboyant wife)which
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&d c
perhaps accountg for his 4nforced gentlemens. People did use the nasty

phrase "henpecked" about him. Wh:ié%he was a perfectly competent man in
L \/ = &
“his teachlng{Ee taught some mathematics besides phy31cs.2’Be never had

any trouble w1th his students, I never heard of any of them being wildly

1nsp1redﬁbut he served the purpose very well. Aé%lld inspiration was hara{ﬂ
TP

greatiyfneeded in the AS&Q program. Then the other appointment I

was Lot of
remember with particular pleasureﬁis?a teacher of engineering drawing.

She at the moment is about two blocks from here.ﬂ.She—tngally Steﬁtson)
Cehen)
She~wa§?the wife of theAhead of the mathematics departmentylnterested

primarily I had supposed in landscape gardeningzﬁnd~eeﬂené% But it
appears that in her training as a landscape architect she had had to
study a great deal of industrial drawing and engineering drawing. -And-%&
50 she was persuaded to teach courses in that field and did so very
confidently and remembers her experiencell think;with very great pleasure.
As far as I know it is the only time in her life that she ever taughtj\
unless conceivably she did so long before,I don't know. You could ask
e Der. This very interesting program came to an end. -Beferem{~go»to~tha§
9{{7 bet me That g6 bests e
1 I-wil¥ mention one personal notes Young Dick Brooks in the midst of the
program decided to be married. The marriage was to take place here;
%aé?gxavel was such then that the bride's mother couldn't come all the
way from Florlda?and the bride couldn't go all the way down to Florida
T Ges TThave L ¥
or whatwpot. Those ‘things were rationed)I guess or at least whes=one
couldn't do them easily. Well, the wedding took place in the/ﬁollege
chapel., As dean and frienq: my wife and I had the wedding reception in

our house?and the bride's mother sent up a lot of flowers from Florida

to decorate the house. This was a pleassat link between the academic
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side of the college and the ASTP. And now every year starting a few

€S
yvears ago the Brook§1anéﬂmy"wifewandwﬁwégentertain my wife and me on

theis o
n;cg anniversary;/é%he boys in the ASTP program were suddenly yanked out

s

;%{ of here. They éere needed in the infantry. They'd been here training
bot there wasp’t-bime o Finich,
to become officers?d Something aboute-the Battle of the Bulge made it

necessary for them to go into active service. General Eisenhower needed

the@, ’Ahd so they all marched away. Most of them were killed o =

I shouldn't say that:g:I don't know thag?but many of them were.
e
‘ ””5&% Fowll have spoken of a few appointments I made in the ASTP. Last time
o 5 .
I forgot to mention{as you called to my attention)the appointments I
eh
made in the Bryan administration. So I think this might be a conv&ient
point to take that up aadeewaméewMofw@hemﬁg I'1l mention one appointment

O

)
that I made after the war?in Mr, Pomfret's administratﬂp)and two that 1

made back before the war in Mr. Bryan's administration. WNow I think
with
that4both presidents, my relation as dean was essentially the same.

Appointments were(§;;;I;;I§\@323)with the foint advice and consent

of the department chairman, the dean?and the president. Sometimes the

heavyis%éiiiﬁ%ork in preparation for a new appointment was made by the

chairman)who would then bring the dean into the picturef'and we would

report to the president. Sometimes the heavy spade work f&%heqf%as done

by myself for some reason or other?usually because the president requested

that that particular appointment be prepared in that way. Wellz yhen I

did the heavy spade work, then I would in due time take the chairman into
+hicdly

the picturelland we would report to the president. And then«la&er?there

were a few cases in which the president ene—migh%-saz?%ook the initiativ%a

5%?;539¥Mdidwthemheavymspade'work. 2
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For example, I'm sure that it was entirely Mr. Bry¥n's initiative that
brought in Lesﬁag'Cheek. That was before I was dean. I'm sure it was

President Pomfret's ﬁﬁé@?initiative that brought in the new professors of

colonial history. ’The*thing*wa§“tha§?;t depended on the interest and

on the contacts of the chairman, dean?and president as to how it was

worked. Bw#?I don't believe there was any case in which this was done
completely over the head of the chairman. There were cases when it was
done over the head of a department when there was no chairman. For example,
;;}11 mention that kind of thing at this point;% Dr. Youngjwho was head of

the department of physicsjdied very suddenly of a heart attack. He died

capmamr

in his office as he was preparihg his morning's work. Well, he left behind L

i S— -

a rather a~¥a%heg§lghis is in l94§)jsma11 and I am obliged to say a rather
umimpressive department. There was nobody in his department that I -would

/ o
have thought or theAéresident would have thought in a real positin
to appoint a new full professor of physics. ~Aﬂé?§130?1 think it very
likely that they would not have wanted to have anything to do with it.

& physieigt
Well, anyhow, it devddved on me to findﬁsemeenefbf the sort that we would
want as a full professor and chairman of the department. So this is the
time when I did the spade workgthough it wasn't much work. T just telephoned
my former college roommate?who was head of the physics department at the
University of Michigan) I told him the situation,and I said to send us
Walkg MeCorm ek
somebody. So he did. He sentqwa&eégh~M£Corméq§%ho stayed with us for a
few years until they called him back to the University of Michigan as a
full professor theye. He was very good?and I think that's just about the
sppaniitinent I cuer mader

easiestfpeéntgﬁ It wouldn't have made apy semse at all to scrounge around

P dbe Lhen webe
the whole country becausgﬁthi@?f§’not easy to getfand I knew that Bawid—7~
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David Dennison, my roommate?would send me somebody first-class. There is

always the danger, you know, when you don't know peep%ewof—getting~~5§§
s that
people of getting sold a bill of goodsyfgﬁéw two appointmentsqI might

mention that?%ook place before the war in Mr. Bryan's administration. I

Bewrkel T
had the major hand in appointing Frequu@eéifwhose name you may know;'and

whose daughter is the wife of a man whose name I can't remember in the

physics department. But that's pure coincidence,ﬁﬁxm?ﬂﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬁknm%%because

Fred didn't stay many years. Fred was a distinguished legal scholar and

has been since then a dean of a ldading law school. Why it was my job to

get him I can't remegber. it seems odd; I would have thought that Ted

would hove dere & he was QUMaQWMMmm@

Con90me%hiag~abﬁut’the dean of the department ofqedﬂea%éon?or Mr. Bryan, whe wag a

lawyer by trade) /gut for some reason I did it. I'm sure I consulted themj‘
Restel

but I did the work and read a vast amount of stuff about Fredﬁﬁufei%?and

other people. I might mention just for fun, my first memory of him

' pefsonally. He came to Williamsburg for me to interview him. My secretary

and I did not know how to pronounce his namefland looking over his papers

we decided that it was probaﬂ1§f%§ytel;yghe German pronunciation. So she

o T

and T always talked about Mr ﬁ"Boyte].d;.\g\-)/}‘/i’-]}wh»ad?::tu%ied his credentials.

One morning, the day he arrived, he came to the outer officejand she came

in to me and said in a very significant tone of voice, '"Mr. ﬁ;té{ is

t

here." Well, I'm sure I took him to see the/?&esident and the

i,

dean of the department of ;uric%/érudence;hnd there was no doubt, that
o

we wanted to get him. I think the only doubt was whether we could get
enough salary to attract him. Somehow we got‘qui%e?enough{~iﬂéybe we raised

o,

it fifty dollars or something. In thomse days that was an amount. ——3’
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FO &tz it
) /Y
Then Edgaquvifehing§Was appointed in 1939. It came about this way;‘ I

received a letter from England from a close friend of mine there telling
me about him with very high praise. He was a refugee from Austria who

got as far as London and wanted to come to the United States to go on with
his caree??which was closed, of course?in Austria. T told Mr. Bryan about
him and he was ve?jmuch interested and_got enough money together--perhaps
out of his ow%;ocket—-to senQ him traveling expenses to come across the
Atlantic. Weil, he turned out to be a very brilliant?engaging man with
the highest credentials. Ba@’ge also turned out;%na what I hadn't quite
known when this entered into things)Zﬁe waélprimarily a criminologist, a
specialist in criminal 1awR—'fhe sociology of crime and the psychology of
crime;;o that he didn't belong exclusively i;jZne department. But no
matter. The various departments that were concerned were Willing%“some

~

were happyﬂto have him. He taught in all-three-of those departments after

_his appointmenti¢:%ndwlitt%eweﬁwtm'wJ “sociology, a-littie—of?
pshchology?and a«&fffrgﬁefgiaﬁ,‘ He left heré"ﬁény year; égo. He is still
alive>though very oléyin Pittsburghor the v%cinity of Pittsburggp I think
he became he-%ecamé?%rofessor at the University of Pittsburéxwhen he left.
Now I resigned my deanship in 1946, ThereX;:;;several reasons?&a&fl had
wanted to do that all along, that is after the first couple of years. I
hadn't planned to be dean more than two or three years at the most.

It was mainly the war and having a new president and his needing help that
made me stay on. I resigned xeallyrthe first year that it was decently

h————? P
s s o e
possible and feasible to do so. Now-Me-—Pomfret—was—very-decent—and-helpful i

&Tn”tufﬁ“TWWﬁnrﬁatk“towmy«ownwdepaatmenbwwwﬂfgw
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President Pomfret was very kind and helpful and arranged that in returning
to my department I would have the rank of chan%e]ir professor, one of the
recently established changelbr professorshlps.in&w ief Umbeck of the

department of sociology was appointed dean to succeed me. He remained in

. (-4
office for three years and left to become f’resident of Knox Collge.

whe
He in turn was succeeded by Nelson Marshall in 1949jL 4Hé:’remained for two

ears. ‘Fhis-brings-me-tothe faibus Ffootball §6andaT 6T 1951, .
y K wbely ,éé?f’i“(

EmiTyT Can T stop you there—and-I'll-change-the -taped———7=

%,
-

BF it Wy oo o A
(;é’{' o S R

g ’%wyw* o
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o LR %«:ﬁw’”
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Emily: One problem that came up that surprlsed me'\hav1ng lived through the

duma \a}wz& Wat 51
1960sj'was apparently at one tlme«Fhere was some sfﬂﬁ?wyﬁ?%lack pf the

who
college over some conscientious objectorS4Hmﬁ?were on the facultyg do

-

you remember this?

Miller: Yes, I know very well about that. The flack was not in the college;\

1
but in the/ﬁoard. There were two conscientious objectors 4n the faculty.

]

i §
' A lot of alumna? went to the/ﬁoard with protest%and the/éoard itself wes cﬁsykﬁgsed
would disptace?at this.

Emily: But President Pomfret stood behind them, is that not true? =

A
e

i

They were not fired?

Miller: Well, it's more complicated than that.

Emily: More complicatdd than that?

Miller: This was in 1945. I was very anxious that any further uproar‘;g
scandal should be avoided. A1507these men had no rights of the—teniazr¥ bopule = -
they were both acting members of the faculty But if they had been Hm%ﬁ?dbmﬂx
fired it would have created a scanda%dfg%;%eenaa questlonable ethical

LN

justification.! Well, I arrived by strange luck at the following solutioqé‘

- e
’ﬁn May of 1945 the German/ﬂrmy collapsed. izzemember the dates closely.
May of 194q was V.E. Day.’ It seemed to me quite probable that those members
of the faculty4$:re on leave in the #rmy would be back by September(ér
at least possibli)7}ﬁhereas those who were in the/Navy probably would not
be because there was still Japan to deal with. So I decided that acting
members of the faculty who were substituting for persons in the/&rmy
would not be reapp01nted whereas those who were substituting for people

in the ﬂgvy would be. By a pecuyar coincidence the—twomembers 6F the 5
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the two members of the acting staff who were substituting for people in
the Army were the two conscientious objectors. So as a matter of this

natural policy they were not reappointed.
1 VS well
Emily: 1It,d44 well. ) .
A Teodemal Betpn?
es, / 2
Miller:,,/i Yeahi< It did one of them/, #e-did®great benefit because he was able to
the
go to,Swarthmore facultyjand it wouldn't have helped him any to have
hevlog hq:gn bodrteef&@”)

. 4
the stigma ofdbeémo(:ed; As for the other, Har%?}?reeman}f‘ He didn't

suffer in the least. He went on to become full professor at Cornell. But

+

Freeman was furious. He was the kind of pacix(ist who wante to have a big
@fl\gﬁﬁiinﬁ

rowl;? He was furious -at-the 'mode;fﬁTaﬂtWEhewtrﬁfckwaﬂnﬁ**i"&eawwas"ntem«geﬁ? rid

of him because that deprived him of the opportunity to cry civil liberty

and so forth. I~15—-x«7au;.J:hem-ea:«s,e—;awyel:twsee%fv For some reason, I don't know
mete whe weats Lo war

why, many, of the facultyﬁwent into the ﬂavy. The ,A/rmy was the ex:\_geptiong /
K V}

&aé@the N/avy was the regular thing. So as I said there were just two in
1944 on leave who were in the /{rmy and my formula )&MW"‘*’M!’\@@%«) a@“*ﬁf‘ﬁﬂ
Sinding werf For
Emily: Did you have any trouble,\whem;, the /ﬂavy and the ,Krmy people who had been

on the faculty befi

any~trotble-finding work-for -them %

when they returned to William and Mary?
. Qessld .
Miller: No:)\because one peamp tell pretty far in advance when people are getting
Mepds
back{and youymakéZappointments quite a long time in advance. I don't

recall there was ever any difficulty about that. We could have had two

i

people for the same joblwhich could have been handledj‘ fgut I don't think
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i?ﬂbn*t~think%ghat ever occurred.

Emily: People who had been hired during the war had been hired expressly for

the duration, is that right?

Mitler: -The-acting-facully., 5= 5

WetE o

o’ s, P2
Emily# Theyhiredjacting faculty?"

Miller: Yes, oh yes? waédefinitely. They were appointed year by year

' Wy e
with the titlg\actingj“ ﬁnd it was always know who they were acting forf\
A

who they were replacing.

Emily: Did the great influx of veterans after the war present any special

2
problems for youfor had you already resigned from the,deanship'f-:i:rst‘fQE
buts

Miller: Welly let's seé&" #hey began to come before I resigned?4 Mbst of-it-¥ came

Veﬁfa little later. Nog\l don't think there was ever any real problem
there. ©No, it was really all to the good. It just meant that one's

classes tended to be a little more mature than usuale-at least a little bit
one bime
older. I rememberqparticularly“in my big introductory cours@? jémawtime“%é

in the middle of the lecture somebody sounded off with a question, Wellj“

that was never done, you know. The students wowtld always wait until the
end%“that is with a big class. And this man asked such an intelligent

s
question and expressed it so well that I couldn't be taken a back. He
Can P
: NG A
turned out later to be quite a person..Peter Boyﬁ$nywho graduatdd and

whdglater became a very distinguished novelist and professor of English
< '
~

1
and one of our most prnamental alumnﬁe& who died ufifortunately just a few

months ago.

Emily: But in general/you\didn't]find the veterans to be at least .more -mature—<-

mature students?

8
Miller: qﬁkﬁﬂmég No, I don't think there was ever any difficulty on account of

the fact that they were veterans;'yén the contrary.
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-+ Emily: Except in housing.

 Miller: 6h. They were marrieq}you mean?
Emily: Yes. That was an altogether different problem from yours.
.« When you resigned from the deanship?then, there was a problem between Dr.
Pomfret and the goard in choosing your successor. How much did you know
of this at the time?
Miller: I didn't know that there was any problem--was hhere? Umbeck?

I didn't know about it.
Emily: He was not Dr. Pomfret's recommendation.
Miller: Oh, I see. Do you know who was?

Phajﬁih\)
Emily: Yes? Dr. fo~¢EeLanﬂ@ Thelﬁoard selected Dr. Umbeck.
Miller: No, I didn't know about tha?}or at—least%if I did I had forgotten. I
(.P\'\m« @ hﬁ
think Umbeck made a good dean)and I thlnkﬂgkﬂfﬂ?xwould haveﬂalso No, I

didn't know about that.

wep €
Emily: And—neé?xouqaye@go1ng to get on to 1951,

Miller: We11 the ambitious athletic program that William and Mary had adopted
befor7&he war ,0f course came to an end during the war. I think the whble

coaching staf.xuéftr-/ﬁﬁat could be verified, ﬂ?Tﬁtﬁﬁr”atfwﬁfWitwandfw@m

i v

Y Ay
e
LY

‘QN--certalnly most of 1t- 3Buf?then when the war was over fairly soon there-

after thggggllgge returned to its blg{lme program of athletics. Ruag™ QQleﬁz
Mch%y was appointed as head coach, He had been one of Carl Voyles's
assistantsy) I think you'd say he was the pr1nc1p§% assistant. Anyhow, he

was made #irector of athletics and h?d coach?with the intention on the

part of fhe ?oard of having a strong football team--a team that would win

more than ié lost with other teams of high caliqer. Before long, and I

can't give the exact time lag on this, there was a good deal of opposition
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from the student body to the program of athletics. There was a regular
“7y

S " @ . n "o ‘ g .
phrase that was ygdd, "the oveQigmpha31s oﬁ footbal%\ ovegigmphas1s on
athletics." The students were quite active in protesting. I don't reeall
+ was
What the facultyﬂwe%ééopenly engaged in protest?but certainly the students
were., They didn't protest in the way that students in the late '60s

ov

did. There were no strikes,, computers burned?or bricks thrown through
windows as there were in the '60s, not at William and Mary perhapstbut
in many other places. Ncﬁ%the students that I'm talking about back in the
late '40s and early '50s were completely free from violence. They got
petitions together and got things into the Flat Hat, no doubt; passed
motions®and so on. ihﬁ@:§h§re was quite a definitely observable movement

)
=~/
of protest that went on}/ en the scandal itself started with the falsification

&
of %hé?high school records by the coachrTMchqy. This is curiously the
had. done o)

reverse of what what Dean Hodges4déd4g He falsified college records to
S
deceive other institutionsgwhereas McCrgy was falsifying the records of

other institutions to deceive his own. The thing was, you know, that there
q:.n

were certain standards of admission,after alB and if Rugmgot A?hold of a
promising football player who did not have the academic qualifications for
admissiqu% he would fix the record up so that apparently the student did

pave the qualifications. It was easy to change a GQ into a 90yyou know.

Z I

-now<in due time this came to the attention of President Pomfret.

o

do not know exactly how it came to his attentionpwhether it came through
the deané:Dean Marshalb or in some other way. There are those, no doubt,
who do know. But anyhow it came to his attention. His reaction to it was

the opposite of the way Mr. Bryan had reacted in the Hodges affair.
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L med aféﬁ'l{!g—j S
Mr. Bryan had acted«strongly?as you know. He discharged Dean Hodges. Mr.

Pomfret delayed, did not take strong action. I presume that he told Mb0r2§
that this sort of thing is not done, you can't do thats-must not do thatw«in
the future. And he probably hoped that MbCé%y would find himself a job
somewhere else andﬁéézizgiy~é§vg?away. I think that thisi;szr. Pomfret's

great mistake. He should have acted promptly and vigorously. But he was

a
a very kind man?and he didn't want to destroy MCery's family. As a

e,
Tl

matter of fact;he was personally very much devoted to the McCrgxf?.
And so he delayed and really did nothing for the time being, at least.
Well, Nelson Marshall was outraged at this delay. Now Marshall was a man
of very high ingegrity who regarded anything dishonest as a cause for
Wkeraag
capital punishment, so to speak. He was;shall we say, an idealistfander.
Pomfret was a realist in this matter. Lots of people often spoke of
Nelson as a sort of gir Galaha$kin his impractical purity. And I think
it could be argued that being under Mr. Pomfret he acted unethically in
challenging Mr. Pomfret's decision. Who knows? These things are very
complicated?and I don't know all the facts..perhaps never did. Perhaps‘
nobody does.ﬁﬁif involved a~fudd—rommi~of different people and what have
&o%é;d ;éat happens when and what private conversations were held When;h
. you know.//{; any event, this much is certaiﬁf) 1% was Mr., Pomfret's
soft response to the MbCr§§ problem and Nelson Marshall's strong inter-
vention that created the scandal)because all of this leaked into the press
and the Board of V%sitors found about all of it. It was the leaking to the

press, of courseithat put the ﬁoard into a difficult position. So long as

the}goard doesn't get a bad press?it's perfectly willing that anything
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should be going on, Now whether it was Nelson that leaked this to the
: as the (). 8, goverpmeti

press or not, I don't kknow. But the4 again, who knows leaks)4 Thf&&ﬂ%&?
KNMN5> &t& very difficult to identify, t it became publlc;%iy known jthat Man?y
had falsified the records aﬁd that Pomfret had not fired him. So then the
#oard put a very pious look on its face and decided that Pomfret was to
blame for alff;hisz;;dgfor all this bad publicity that the ﬁollege was
getting., The ironic thing is that it was the #oard, not theJ,Igrr:esident;\“fés
basically responsible for the big athletic program. Pomfret hadn't wanted 7
that;g "ifhe #oard had. The féoard and the a'lumna-\eX were the ones that wanted
bié%ime athletics. Now when you have bié%ime athletics the danger of the
sort of thing that MCCnﬁ§ did is very great. The cause of Mbcf%y's
behavior was that we had a bié%ime athletic program, He had to build a
winning team. Now how do you do th}@ Nﬁﬁgép the cause of Eheﬂeausemefwgg
his behavior was the policy of the ¢ollege§which was established by the

#oard. But the #oard, instead of recognizing that it might be somewhat to

blame for this?denounced Pomfret for not having fired the coach. They

!

. £2 *\ ety

?éﬁ Well, things came to a head very rapidly. The/éoard made things 304hamﬁ?for

dldn t want the coach flred;! fhey just didn't want bad publicity.

e

Mr. Pomfret thatTof coursg?he resigned. This happened in a few days. He

)
resigned an%qdeparted and went to a job that was far better than whea ohe he'd Y ¢
D
he-got aheadis Now was this just coincidence or What4that he had been in
N ) wka 0&”@2’“ ¥y ‘*&‘M\
touch with theAHanéngtonﬁbeopleqsome months before? I don't think he

'3{5/} 4
could have foreseen what wasftojhappen at William and Mary«but I think he

was planning to resign to go to the Huntington job--not that that matters

very much. . . . e, e
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poss.bly
th—that—that«ma@texswverywmutﬁ%§ So forqthe first time possibif in the

history of the %ollege, the éollege had no #residentﬁbecause Pomfret's
resignation was not adfa month from nowpbut immediately. So there was no
‘fre31dent. Sé?to tide things over until they couléﬁgaad?a ndw fres1dent
the ﬁoard asked me to be the acting ?}e51dentﬂwhlch I was for four or
e S enc

five or six weeks. I think I'll call this installment, endingfFthere.
My acting presidenty I think belongs more with the next division rather
than at the end of this.

Emily: Do you want to talk about how you were selected now or would you rather
save that until next time?

Yes 4

M111er:,1¥eah§because I don't remember.
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Miller: At the end of our last session, Miss Emily, you asked me how it was
that I was appointed as acting president. The simplest answer is simply
thisii?%%g ditector of the/éoard asked me to be acting presideanand I
reluctantly consented. I never knew quite why he asked me rather than
anybody else, but I presume that it was probably because I was the only
former senior dean in the ﬁbllege. Other former deans had died or resigned
to go elsewhere sometime before. I believe; and I remember vaguelythat

n +the
there was a,ad hoc faculty committee that advised»withﬁrector on the
appointment of acting president?but I really don't know anything about
that., In aﬁ% eﬁ nt, I was appointed and became acting president on
September 18§F“;r. Pomfret had resigned on September 13? /go for five days
there was the extraordinary circumstance that the/ﬁollege had no president,
acting or otherwise. It seems to me that it got on perfectly well during
those five days. A few days ago if you had asked me how long I was
acting president I think I would have said five or six weeks. To my
considerable surprisex;né%ﬁooking through my papers, it was only three
weeks, precisely three weeks that I served. My function as acting
president was simply to tide the!ﬁollege over until their regular president
could be appointed. In the short time and under the circumstances it
—*z&n@thg
was hardly possible to accomplish anything in particular,andsof lasting
~value. So most of my work was simply routine and ceremonia%yfidinguthings~éf
S which st leset
/// V%Qvefé% I did one thing which is perhaps memorable?,wl recall with pleasure.

I gave a speech to the annual autumm convocation of the ﬁollege on

September £28. I think it was published in the‘Alumna§ Gaﬁétte. Ican't

find a copy of it myselfsbut I'm quite sure it was publishedjand it was
stor esmn .

quoted in part in many press )semething.% This is how I came to write it.,

dn the Sunday morning a few days before the convocation I had not prepared

it at all. Neither had I cut the grass around our house in Indian Springs.

I decided to spend Sunday morning cutting the grass. As I cut it)the

speech began to take form in my mind,and when I had finished cutting the
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grazs I hod $nished the g@aaaht Se T phoned vp Pearl dores
immediately(f Pearl was my secretaryj /éhe had been Dr. Pomfret's)and

A’c!—mﬂ“&l & -
she was to be DX. Chandler'sygiéhe was the presidential secretaryi)

¢
Pearl met me over at thelfresident's office?and I dictated the whole thing}
and she typed it up from her shorthand notes. Of course it came out
exactly as I had dictated it. Now the morale of the ﬁollege was very
low at that time because of the events in the last few weeks:of the P;mfret
MUSh =

administration: the football scandal, the forced resignation of A admired
‘?resident, the high-handed action of the ﬁoar@; Both students and faculty
were very depressed at that time. The purpose of my speech was to lift
their spiritsgto improve the morale of the whole ﬁbllege community.
‘ that
Fifteen years later I was told by Bill Guyﬂ ﬁ% remembered the speech very

well and that I had indeed done the things that I had meant to do in it.
,fgésso much fea&lygfor my acting presidency;hhich was a very momentary thing.

I might add that lest anybody think otherwise, I had no thought or desire

of becoming the regular president. All I wanted was to get back to my

department as soon as circumstances would permit. So i}il go‘right ahead

to the appointment of President Chandler and my views of his administration.

I want to describe the four years from his appointment to my resignation.

now
In order to do this I'm going to jump ahead4to 1955?to the end of the four

 the summet ﬁ%“f
years)for a reason that will soon be appparent."In41955,»summe&§?knowing

that I was about to resign{I peepared a statemént for the press of my
reasons for doing so. There hadJALbeen many resignations during the four
years. Faculty members resigned because they were dissatisfied, opposed

to the Chandler administraﬁ&nﬁ%‘gﬁt all of them had simply departed silently,
at least with no statement to the public as to why they were leaving.

My wife and I decided that when it was time for us to leave we would not

depart silently. So as I said I prepared a statement for the press to be
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\' 3

Jmé?released on the day of my resignation. This is the way I prepared i
%,weﬂyﬁ-u

I wrote it updefécon31derable length. In factAI wrote a ZQ page statement

of my reasons for resigning. Having done so)I then realized that having

got that off my chest?it would be more effective to issue a short

statement. Readers of newspapers we£e§w111 read one page /fﬁey are not

The
likely to plow through twenty. So I4wrote the short statement~theﬁ2to use

I pot the. BW
1nstead“and4a?1ong statement4&aﬁ§1n my f11es§where it has rested un-
“twedty

disturbed for,zq years. I think I mentioned it to you last time(@erhaps

not on the recorde?}and expeessed some doubt as to whether I could find

.

it. But I found it without any trouble in a file labeled :ﬁirst,ﬁraft of
statement." WNow I propose to read it to you, Miss Emilyfand you, Mr.
Recorder§because I think it is by far the best way I can present in

fairly fule?detail my reasons for resigning and my views of the whole
ate “HW'“QEQ,.
Chandler administration. efore I start reading itThere is wmy%little

I3
prefaceqﬁ Tt should be pointed out that the first draft is addressed to

the rector of the/Board. I had forgotten thatsbut I had intended that

it was to take form of a letter to the rector. So I occasionally say in
N v
the statement Mr. Rector, 31rég%d so on, In the second place)from the
JcW@ﬁ%ﬁi
ﬁﬂgﬁpective of the present, }q years later, I eecognize that much of the

-

~
style of this document is over emotional and flamboyanq«characteristics
St

that were the pfoduct of th time. If I were writing this now{¥hich is
Yetrs
some contradiction 1n4ﬁur§f I think I'd tone the style down)but the substance,

the content I find myself in full agreement with now. I think that the
A we ey
content is absolutely correctﬂaé?expre581ng my views of.2Q years ago.

In the third place?by way of preliminary, the document takes a running start.
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startdr I begin by a brief description of the Bryan administration and

then the Pomfret administration. I won't omit these in reading because
he@&us@; else
they are integral to the whole document?A'Se%they give a quick summary of

things we talked about in the previous sessions. And also it might interest
you as a historian to compare what I said about those administrations the
“twentig
other day with what I said,zq years earlier. I think you'll find them com-
eapller vefsion
pletely Consisten#?though as I have indicated the«iaﬁeffpaftiﬁn?is

flamboyant.

?f~ Here is the so-called first draft of the statement:

'
\Q&About a year and a half ago I came reluctantly to the conclusion
AR {}M AT
that under its presen§4ausp4£is?there is no hope for the College of William
e
and Mary in the fon§eeab1e future. Rather than remaining here to witness
further its wapid and constant deterioration and the destruction of much of
my life's work, I decided to seek appointment elsewhere. But positions on
the senior level in my field are scarce?and it was not until early this
My Aew
summer that my search was successful. That4minutaﬁposition is better
™

than my old one in respect to salary, teaching 1oad§and kind¢ired matters,
and that it is in one of the most distinguished universities of North
America is simply my good fortume. Accordingly I have resigned at the

o

,ébllegé%ffective at the end of the present session?hhen I shall have com-
'j .@,{?‘:} I had

pleted twenty years of service on the faculty. Four yearsaié%lanned to

eemain at the college for the rest of my life. Since I have had the

privilege of playing a rather special part at the’ﬁollege{‘having been

ﬁean of the faculty from 1938 to 1946;and acting‘fresident from September
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13, 1951)to October 11, 1951, I consider it my duty to inform the citizens
of Virginia and you, Mr. Rector, of the cause of my disillusionment.
L Fwve st STk

Qéf It was John Stewart Bryanﬁﬁiﬂthé%resident, who brought me to the college as
associate professor in philosophy in September, 1935. Teaching here in
those early days of William and Mary's new golden age was a wonderful
experience. In its modest way it was like living in Fén%;issance Florence
qg fifth=century Athens. Mr. Bryan's infectuous enthusiasm gave color
and élan to the whole college. He had a genius for leadership. He led
by inspiring us with love for the college and(@nintentionally) love for
himself, Nearly all of us, students and faculty alike;btrove to do our
best in order to please Mr. Bryan and out of devotion to the ¢ollege.
There was a wonderful sense of surging forward, a conviction that the
f@llege was on its way to reassuming its rightful position among the two
or three leading colleges of the liberal arts and sciences in America.
Peté@ critics often complained that Mr. Bryan spent only half of his time-&é@ at
the éollege. Apparently it never occurred to them that he could do in
half his time what lesser men could never hope to do in all of theirs. He
was a great college president, one of the greatest, in a class, for example,
with Elict of i"?aw&x«d@

ﬁ?ﬁ His successor, Dr. John E. Pomfret, though he lacked Mr. Bryan's genius,

Was an admirable college president, a fine historical scholar, a gifted
executivey he preserved and consolidated the gains of Mr. Bryan's administration,
further inc;éased the academic excellence and reputation of the college?

and brought it unscathed through the difficult days of the war. Much

that he might have done, however, he never did;hampered as he was, like Mr.
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Bryan before him?by reactionary influences which exerted ,a powerful and

/&

baleful effect and constantly dampened his enthusiasm:f/After the events of

<
the summer of 1951, which issued in Dr. Pomfret's resignation, in
the famous faculty gtatemens and in my acting presidency('a position that
= = vt ot the
I did not at all desire since it involved anqﬁxruption JQ scholarly

work to which I was committeél the appointment of Alvin Duke Chandler as
twveity ~se sonat Ootebas

;QHQ President of the/ﬁollege)announced onﬁﬁugus@'9, 1951)bore all the

U
earmarks not only of fg:kiveness?but of hysterical haste. Most members
(=4

of the faculty regarded it as a ﬁ%ntﬁn violation of the spirit)if not the

1etter7of a commitment which the/éoard\through its then rector had made

to the faculty. Many members of the faculty, probably a majority, and

many members of the student body, probably a majority, were so outraged that

they planned strong and immediate representations to the governor which

would not only protest the manner of the appointment but also question the

qualifications of the appointee?a mass march to Richmond being actually

contemplated. It was ome of the last acts of my brief acting presidency

to disupade them from these extreme measures on three ground§>namely(€
Lé%hat the issues wewe too subtle to enable us to hold the support of the
. d‘ti,
general public, %Jthat we really knew nothing of Admiral Chandler§and
as the/ﬁoard had presumably studied his qualifications{we should have con-
fidence in its choice)and %ﬁthat Admiral Chandler was probably ignorant of

: e
his meive

the circumstances ofdw%ieh«heﬂhadwbeeq;appointeq and was therefore not to

be condemned out of hand. If I had to do it over again I suppose I

should give the same advice?though it would be on the first ground only.

o A

é%?ﬂIn spite of indignation at the manner of Admiral Chandler's appointment
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and doubts concerning his fitness for the position, the devotion of the
faculty and students to the‘éollege was so great that with negligible

exceptions)they hoped sincerely that Admiral Chandler's administration

oy t& bce

a8 suloesg )

(/

—and earnestly strove to support and cooperate with him. Admiral Chandler

will find this difficult to believe(but I know it to be true. But their

hopes were soon dashed, their attempts rebuffqugp a matter of days

or weeks or months or years, depending on the individual)it gradually

davned on us, one by one;that Admiral Chandler eGkaaé%eﬁ?Es not only

catastrophically incompetent as President of the College of William and
eved \eanrs: ngos

Mhry) but incapable oqu@maahingﬁﬁ Admiral Chandler, in my opinion,

is no more fit to begéresident of the ﬁbllege than for example, professor

Jess Hamilton Jackson, head of the English department?is fit to

command a battleship in wartime. IndeeddI think that gxofessor Jackson

would do a less disast®rous job at such a strange assignment?for at least

thaﬁ%he would knwwzg?at he knew not and would seek and follow the advice of

a competent staff.|’' It should be admitted, of course, that the‘gdmiral has

certain virtues. He is gifted with ttemendous energy. He has ;n unusual

capacity for very hard and sustained work. He is capable of joviality

and often makes a pleasant impression on parents of students. He is capable

of deference to people whom he considers @e/bé?his superiors in his

hierarchical world and impresses them with his technique of "throwing

' He is deeply devoted to the ¢ollege?according

N
a lot of paper at them,'
N A

ﬁ-&w»hjﬁ-‘o

to his kikes. But since it is obvious to any competent educator that his
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his Iiiees are'a&{?hrong, his virtues all become vices. His principal .:
CQSqualification for the presidency-{désqea&éééea%ien%?is his monumental
genius for antagonizing people. As a former member of the administration
remarked upon taking his departure, "If there are two ways of doing any-
thing, Chandler will infalliably choose the one -enefthat will make
everybody mad.'" He has antagonized the faculty collectively and most of
us individually. He has done the same with students. He has antagonized
officials of Colonial Wllllamsburg§¥¥ﬁmany re31dents of this city. All
of that I know at firsq;band. I am told on good authority that he
antagonizes nearly every newspapef/&an who comes in contact with him and
that he haszgggiigégﬁqmself persona non grata with ranking officials of
the government of the commonwealth@EPat he is not precisely a pied piper
in dealing with the members of the ;;sembly is shown by his staggering
failure with that body in the matter of appropriations. / As a proof of
Admiral Chandler's incapacity to get along with his cég%orkers, I submit
the matter of his loss of the excellent administration which he inherited.
Why did the‘ﬁean of Yomen, Katﬁ%fine Jeffers?resign? Because she found
the Admiral impossible to work with and therefore,%sought another post.
mut&eve,d.,
"A well-deserved promotionS the Admiral said. It has beenqwa£e%ed§1 am
told)by some members of the/ﬁoard that we are better off without her;\ #ut
that is refuted by her great success at the excellent college of which she

M&Pm Auerite.
is now dean. Why did the assistant jean ofzmomenﬁMaquﬁ%Ee4Wynne-Roberts

)
then leave after serving thelﬁollege many years? Because Dean Jeffers,
knowing that Miss Wynne-Roberts found the Admiral impossible to work with

and knowing her splendid ability?called her to Jackson College wheneve%?a

vacancy occurred. Why did the beloved college physician}Dr. Gordon Keppel?



kS

8=

AT 1€ Weans that 1iftleeime <ii remainsfor“d01hg*fhé”ﬁurrenfMWbrkwﬂmxﬂr”

45

leave? Because of a '"clash of personalities§ no doubt. But why must we
have a president who disrupts the whole college by clashing with nearly

7 o v " N
everyone. Why did John E. Hocqqt, ﬁean of men)an alumnus of thelﬁollege)
who had been dean here for fourteen years)who had planned to spend his
life here and of whom no one could even mutter that we are better off with-

Uy
out him, why did John Hocget leave? For the very reason that lost us

& .
Kathgrine Jeffers. Another "well-deserved promotion." Why did Lculﬁa$T‘Q@ngg,dh

boeret--Denus;—JIry the director of plant and maintenance, a man who was
appointed originally not on the initiative of Pre31dent PomfretPbut on that

“hen Lookert Wam g
of the4rector h1mse1f ﬁhy d1dﬁhocret~ﬁenus-re31gn7 He has told yog, sir,

in a blistering letter“whlch I hope will be released to the publlc./f
/ﬁave been informed by the ﬁoard member generally supposed to be
principally responsible for the Admiral's appointment that the reason for

his selection was that the college needed an administrator, Let us con-

sider Admiral Chandler as/éollegigégministratoﬁé)He knows, apparently,

#~ - . 3 f‘ - . 3
“only one system of administration: _that which prevails in the‘ﬂ%vy. He

sought to apply it to the ¢ollegefbut it simply will not work in a college

I

. oy
" for two reasons® 1,\Jﬁo college has the wealth to provide the large
¥

staff which this method requires. When the admiral first came aboard
he set the deans and other administrators to work writing reports, terms

of reference, detailed description of office procedures”and so forth. Before

long he had practically the whole faculty spending most of its time wrltlng

self-evaluationsand whaquot (4Hu%&—ts—a&l“nexymwell—«w#ﬁt«wmthwamsmall -

od

e

~at-one'§ ofFFice;™ Inwth@wcourSE“bf”%lme this nuissance has been abitsad to
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That is all very well? ght with a small staff it means that little time
remained for doing the current work at one's office. 1In the course of
time this nuiﬁégnce has been abated to some extent. Now key deans must
spend most of their time trying to dié%ade the Admiral from haking
major blunders. The netfyeffect is that the routine work of the
administrative offices has to be neglected or done hastilyyand there
has never been in my memory so much administfative confusion and
inefficiency as in the last four years. Mr. Bryan was no administratog}
/ﬁe was an execufg%t a leader, a poet, a prophet. Dr. Pomfret was
perhaps no administrator in the special sense intended by the board

member. He, too, was an executive. But under them the administrative

offices functioé?efficiently.

9#12; The/ﬁavy system presupposes obedience on the part of those below
and the giving of commands on the part of those above.. - "loyalty up and
loyalty down." The professional men working together in civilian life
find—command and obedience irrelevant to their situation and quite in-

N
toLfgrable if an administrator tries to impose it. They proceed

-
rather by the free interplay of trained intelligence. What would the
staff doctors of a great hospital think if the practice of their profession
consisted in carrying out the orders of an administrator? College

\

. . 4. X%
teabhers, too, are professional men?and the Latin for'teacherVis doctor. V

?4% But what began as a futile attempt to apply a method that is suited to
a military arm but impossible in the civilian life of a democtazsic
society was soon distorted as a result of anger and frustration into
something else. Is it military method that a senior member of the faculty

who suggested to the Admiral that the presence at the entrance to the

college yard of a large banner advertisinggghg Eommon glory was in-



